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DECLARATION OF MICHAEL J. AGUIRRE 

Michael J. Aguirre, Esq., SBN 060402 
Maria C. Severson, Esq., SBN 173967 
AGUIRRE & SEVERSON, LLP 
501 West Broadway, Suite 1050 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone:  (619) 876-5364 
Facsimile:  (619) 876-5368 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 

CITIZENS OVERSIGHT, INC., et al., 

            Petitioners and Plaintiffs, 

v. 

CALIFORNIA COASTAL COMMISSION, 
et al., 

            Respondents and Defendants. 

Case No. 37-2015-00037137-CU-WM-CTL 
Assigned for All Purposes to the  
Honorable Timothy B. Taylor, Dept. 72 

DECLARATION OF MICHAEL J. AGUIRRE 
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO ENFORCE 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT PURSUANT 
TO CAL. CODE CIV. PROC. § 664.6 

Date: November 1, 2019  
Time: 1:30 p.m. 
Dept.: 72 
Judge: Hon. Timothy B. Taylor 

Petition filed:  November 3, 2015 

I, Michael J. Aguirre, declare: 

1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice in the State of California.  I am a partner

with the law firm of Aguirre & Severson, LLP, which represents the petitioners in this action.  

The matters set forth in this declaration are true based on my own personal knowledge, except for 

those matters that are stated on information and belief and, as to those matters, I believe them to 

be true.  If called upon as a witness to testify as to any matters set forth in this declaration, I could 

and would do so competently. 

2. Attached hereto are true and correct copies of the following exhibits:

/ / / 
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No. Exhibits 

1 California Coastal Commission Findings on 16 December 2015 

2 San Onofre Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI) 
Proposed Location Near Shoreline 

3 Stipulation for Dismissal of Action and Request for Court to Retain Jurisdiction to 
Enforce Settlement Agreement (and Order Thereon);  
Settlement Agreement (Attachment A) 

4 Transcript excerpts of Nuclear Regulatory Commission’s (NRC) Webinar on 
November 8, 2018 

5 Transcript excerpts of Community Engagement Panel (CEP) meeting on August 9, 
2018: Whistleblower David Fritch’s and SCE’s Tom Palmisano’s statements re 
August 3, 2018 near drop incident  

6 E-mail from Michael Aguirre dated 1 April 2019 re mediation discussion

7 Letter from Edward Casey dated 2 April 2019 re mediation discussion 

8 E-mail from Nicole Burns date 7 August 2019 re status of the mediation discussion

9 E-mail from Michael Aguirre dated 25 September 2019 re request for SCE to pause
downloading

10 Relevant pages of the NRC’s Response to Freedom of Information Act Request 
dated 09 September 2019 

11 San Onofre Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI) site location 

12 SCE Fuel Storage Report – Assemblies in ISFSI 592 and 481 in storage in 29 casks 

13 Transcript excerpts of CEP Meeting 22 March 2018, SCE Tom Palmisano statements 
re Defective Shims  

14 NRC Apparent Violations against SCE Contractor, Holtec, November 29, 2018 

15 PowerPoint presentation of NRC’s virtual webinar on 8 November 2018 regarding 
the San Onofre Special Inspection  

16 Transcript excerpts of the NRC’s virtual webinar on 24 January 2019 regarding the 
NRC’s pre-decisional enforcement decision at the San Onofre nuclear site 

17 Transcript excerpts of CEP Meeting on 28 March 2019, SCE Tom Palmisano 
statements re failure to timely report safety incidents to NRC  

3. On 11 June 2015, Southern California Edison (SCE) applied to the California

Coastal Commission for a permit to “construct and operate an Independent Spent Fuel Storage 

Installation (ISFSI) to store spent nuclear fuel from SONGS Units 2 and 3.” The Coastal 
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Commission staff found that “[t]his fuel is highly radioactive and requires secure storage for 

thousands of years to prevent harms to humans and the environment[,]” and that the nuclear waste 

site “would eventually be exposed to coastal flooding and erosion hazards beyond its design 

capacity,” yet the Coastal Commission approved a permit to allow SCE to store 3.8 million 

pounds of nuclear waste in its proposed storage site along the coast. A true and correct copy of 

the Coastal Commission’s “Summary of Staff Recommendation” is attached hereto as Exhibit 1.  

4. SCE’s proposed project location was on the San Onofre site in the North Industrial 

Area, which is approximately 100 feet from the shoreline. Attached as Exhibit 2 is a true and 

correct copy of images of SCE’s proposed storage site.  

5. In an effort to stop SCE’s placement of nuclear waste in a location that the Coastal 

Commission staff found would be exposed to coastal flooding and erosion hazards, this litigation 

was initiated to prevent SCE from entombing the nuclear waste in one of San Diego’s beaches.  

6. While the case was set for a hearing, the parties reached a Settlement Agreement 

where SCE agreed to make a “Commercially Reasonable [] effort to relocate the SONGS Spent 

Fuel to an Offsite Storage Facility...” On 28 August 2017, the Honorable Judith F. Hayes (the 

judge originally assigned to petitioners’ case) issued an order dismissing the case “conditioned on 

the Court retaining jurisdiction” pursuant to Cal. Code. Civ. Proc. § 664.6. A true and correct 

copy of the Court’s order, which included the Settlement Agreement, is attached as Exhibit 3.   
 
Information Revealed Since the Court’s Order Retaining Jurisdiction  

7. Since the Court’s order retaining jurisdiction, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission 

(NRC) has published its observance of SCE engaging in ongoing safety violations at the San 

Onofre nuclear waste site.  

8. During a virtual webinar hosted by the NRC regarding the San Onofre Site on 8 

November 2018, NRC staff identified numerous deficiencies involving the operation of the 

vertical cask transporter. A true and correct copy of the transcript for the NRC’s 8 November 

2018 meeting is attached as Exhibit 4. The NRC’s webinar revealed, amongst other things, the 

following:  
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First, the training program did not ensure the vertical cask transporter operator was 
capable of performing the canister download; 
 
Second, SCE procedures did not provide adequate instructions for the monitoring 
of critical parameters during the canister downloading;  
 
Third, SCE used a vertical cask transporter operator with no prior experience to 
download a spent fuel canister into the vault, with no supervisory oversight; 
 
Fourth, SCE procedures did not provide adequate instruction for monitoring of 
critical parameters during download processes; 
 
Fifth, SCE used a spotter with no prior experience to download a spent fuel 
canister into the vault with no supervisory oversight;  
 
Sixth, SCE had no cameras for management and supervisory oversight to observe 
a download; 
 
Seventh, the SCE spotter did not know how to determine the important-to-safety 
slings for slack; 
 
Eighth, communications during the download were informal, and failed to relay 
critical information; 
 
Ninth, the SCE VCT operator fully lowered the vertical cask transporter 
crossbeam, and communicated that the canister was fully loaded, lowered into the 
vault. The canister load was unsupported by lifting equipment for approximately 
53 minutes;  
 
Tenth, SCE used negative training.  SCE trained staff with canisters smaller than 
the actual canisters used at San Onofre. The training canister provided about three 
quarter of an inch more clearance; this made the lining and lowering the training 
canister much easier than would be experienced during actual downloading 
operations. Staff conducting downloading operations were not trained on the 
differences, when training does not match the actual conditions; 
 
Eleventh, during downloading operations, San Onofre frequently experienced the 
bottoms of canisters getting caught on the shield ring. SCE never identified the 
misalignments as conditions adverse to quality; consequently, San Onofre never 
implemented actions that would have prevented the August 3rd [2018] event. (Ex. 
4, pp. 8-9) 

 

Exhibit 4 has been annotated with numbers to direct the court’s attention to these findings 

for the convenience of the court. 
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9. The Community Engagement Panel (CEP) is a group that meets to discuss issues 

pertaining to San Onofe.  On 9 August 2018, the CEP held a publicly noticed meeting at which a 

gentleman by the name of David Fritch appeared. He described himself as an industrial safety 

worker at San Onofe, and he spoke publicly in what appeared to be a capacity of a whistleblower.  

After hearing his comments and reviewing the SCE speakers and information as to 3 August 2018 

misalignment incident, it was clear SCE failed to report it to the NRC. A true and correct copy of 

excerpts from the transcript for the 9 August 2018 meetings is attached as Exhibit 5, with the 

relevant excerpt marked and appearing below:   
 

MR. FRITCH:  
 
Thank you.  My name is David Fritch.  I am a worker on the ISFSI1 project.  I do 
fieldwork as -F-R-I-T-C-H -- I'm industrial safety, so OSHA stuff, not nuclear 
stuff, but I'm out there.  And I may not have a job after tomorrow for what I'm 
about to say, but that's fine, because I made a promise to my daughter that if no 
one else talked about what happened Friday, that I would. About 12:30 August 3rd 
we were downloading, and the canister didn't download but the rigging came all 
the way down.  It was gross errors on the part of two individuals. 
 
***    
 
There were gross errors on the part of two individuals, the operator and the rigger, 
that are inexplicable. So what we have is a canister that could have fallen 18 feet.  
That's a bad day.  That happened. You haven't heard about it, and that's not right. 
*** 
 
I've been around nuclear for many years. Here's a few things I've observed in the 
three months I've been here:  SCWE, the safety conscious work environment, 
where people are constantly given encouragement to raise concerns, it's not 
repeatedly or even -- I've never even received SCWE training since I've been 
on-site; that's not standard for a nuclear site.  
 
Operational experience is not shared.  That problem had occurred before, but it 
wasn't shared with the crew that was working. We're undermanned.  Don't have 
the proper personnel to get things done safely.  It's certainly undertrained.  Many 
of the experienced supervisors - what we call CLSs, cask load supervisors, once 
they understand the project, how everything works, are often sent away and we get 
new ones that don't understand as 1 well as -- as even the craft, basic 
construction in craft.  A lot of them that haven't been around nuclear before, 
performing these tasks.  Not technicians, not highly training, not thorough briefs.  

                                                 
1 ISFSI refers to the San Onofre Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation. 
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This is an engineering problem.  What happened is inside of that cask there is a 
guide ring about four feet down, and it's to guide that canister down correctly to be 
centered in the system. Well, it actually caught that.  And from what I understand, 
it was hanging by about a quarter-inch.   
 
*** 
[P]eople have said Edison's not forthright about what's going on.  I'm sure 
they'll tell you they were going to bring this out once it was analyzed, et cetera, et 
cetera.  I'm sure they've been preparing what they would answer if it comes out. 
And I came here tonight to see if this event would be shared with the community, 
and I was disappointed to see that it was not.  **  
 
I'm just talking about downloading, getting the fuel out of the building safely -- 
and -- and are we going to address what would have happened if that canister 
would have fallen?  Even if the shell wasn't penetrated, now will they take it in 
a repository site?  But the question is:  Will Edison and Holtec commit to 
defining success primarily in terms of nuclear safety?  And there will be -- will 
there be transparency, commitment to safety and the financial commitment to 
make sure that it's done successfully? Thank you. (Ex. 5, pp. 104-107) 

10. In light of the above information, petitioners requested mediation as was required 

pursuant to the Settlement Agreement as a precursor to bringing a motion to enforce the 

settlement.  The parties attended an in-person session of mediation in January 2019 before the 

Honorable Gail Andler, retired Superior Court Judge. Without revealing confidential discussions 

during that session, the parties engaged in discussion and were to continue to do so under the 

mediation process. Accordingly, since then, the parties have engaged in communication back and 

forth regarding SCE’s settlement obligation to make commercially reasonable efforts to relocate 

the nuclear waste to a safer location.  

11. On 1 April 2019, I followed up on the mediation discussions and asked SCE’s 

counsel for the ability to “take limited deposition and document discovery…” A true and correct 

copy of this communication is attached as Exhibit 6.  

12. On 2 April 2019, SCE’s counsel (Edward Casey) sent my firm a letter regarding 

the mediation. A true and correct copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit 7.2  

13. One of the mediation attendees, Mr. Ron Nichols – President of SCE, passed away 

in June 2019. As would be expected, the mediation discussions were on hold. 
                                                 
2 Since this letter is a confidential communication, the attached document is redacted. Defendant is in possession of 
this document, and a copy with be provided to the court at the hearing for this motion.  
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14. On 7 August 2019, Nicole Burns the case manager at JAMS Mediation, 

Arbitration and ADR Services, e-mailed both parties stating: “At your earliest convenience please 

advise as to the status of the finalized settlement of this matter.” A true and correct copy of this e-

mail is attached as Exhibit 8.  

15. On 25 September 2019, I e-mailed SCE’s counsel (Edward Case and Linda 

Anabtawi) stating: “SCE has promised to make a ‘commercially reasonable effort’ to relocate the 

waste from the beach at San Onofre to a safer location. Under the applicable covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing, SCE is required to load the waste so it can be relocated. SCE’s 

downloading record has put a cloud over the storage canister that make it infeasible to relocate 

them unless corrective action is immediately taken. We are requesting SCE pause the 

downloading to allow the parties to develop a corrective action plan.” In response, SCE’s counsel 

Edward Casey stated: “Acknowledging receipt. We will evaluate and respond to you.” A true and 

correct copy of this e-mail thread is attached as Exhibit 9.  

Recent Information Revealed Regarding SCE’s Canisters  

16. Most recently, I have made several requests to the NRC pursuant to the Freedom 

of Information Act (FOIA) regarding the ongoing safety violations occurring at the San Onofre 

nuclear waste site.  

17. On 9 September 2019, the NRC disclosed some records to me regarding records of 

communication between SCE and the NRC regarding inspections done at the San Onofre nuclear 

waste site. One of the documents disclosed was a “NRC Review Question Response Form,” 

which discussed surface defects found on canisters at the San Onofre site; NRC inspector Lee 

Brookhart wrote (as set forth in Exhibit 10, attached hereto):  
 
The original [Final Safety Analysis Report] statement for no scratches mirrored 
the CoC/TS design basis that no scratches would ensure the code adherence to 
ASME [American Society of Mechanical Engineers] Section III.  
 
Now under 72,.48, a design change is needed to deviate to allow scratches. But 
instead of using ASME BPVC code criteria to inspect the canister and properly 
disposition the defects which would maintain conformance to the code, the 
calculation utilizes Archard’s wear equation to bound the condition. I just don’t 
see how that meets [Certificate of Compliance]. 
 
*** 
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ASME Section III NB-2538, “Elimination of Surface Defects” requires that 
defects are required to be examined by either magnetic particle or liquid penetrant 
method to ensure that the defect has been removed or reduced to an imperfection 
of acceptable size. 
 
Instead of doing that (which I understand is impossible) which would maintain 
code compliance, the 72.48 deviates using a calculational method to bound the 
defect.  
 

18. Also disclosed as part of the NRC’s response to my FOIA request was a “HI-

STORM MPC Visual Assessment Report” dated 29 March 2019. A true and correct copy of the 

NRC’s response and relevant pages disclosed are attached as Exhibit 10.  

 Additional Background Information Regarding SCE’s Downloading Operations 

19. As part of the Settlement Agreement, I receive progress reports on the spent fule 

waste being loaded at San Onofre. I have been informed SCE began loading the spent fuel into a 

temporary storage at San Onofre in January 2018 along the shoreline.  A true and correct copy of 

the site location is attached as Exhibit 11. 

20. In total, SCE seeks to move 2,668 spent fuel assemblies from San Onofre’s spent 

fuel pools in Units 2 and 3. SCE moved the nuclear waste from the spent fuel pools to dry storage 

in canisters buried partially underground. This was part of its new Independent Spent Fuel 

Storage Installation (ISFSI) using the Holtec UMAX Dry Storage System.  Altogether SCE 

proposes to store 2,668 fuel assemblies in multi-purpose canisters (“MPC”) in dry storage at San 

Onofre. As of August 2018, SCE had moved 40% or 1,067 assemblies from the spent fuel pools 

to dry storage. A true and correct copy of the most recent “San Onofre Nuclear Generating 

Station Monthly Spent Fuel Progress Report” and “Status Report” sent to me by SCE on October 

1, 2019, is attached as Exhibit 12.  

21. Under the Settlement Agreement, SCE promised to use commercially reasonable 

efforts to move the 2,668 fuel assemblies to an offsite facility. However as set forth herein, the 

NRC’s statements call into question whether the scratches and lack of adherence to the CoC will 

compromise SCE’s ability to ever move the waste off site. I am concerned that for SCE to fulfill 

its obligation to use commercially reasonable effort to move the nuclear waste to a safer location, 
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prudent operations must be required now so as to preserve the ability to transfer the fuel to an 

offsite location in compliance with the intent and common purpose of the Settlement Agreement. 

22. The first four canisters into which SCE loaded spent nuclear fuel at San Onofre, 

contrary to what SCE told the Coastal Commission, were not approved by the Nuclear 

Regulatory Commission (NRC).  A true and correct copy of the Coastal Commission’s findings is 

attached as Exhibit 1, which states:  
 
As a part of its licensing processes, the NRC has reviewed the design of the HI-
STORM UMAX (version MSE) system and the supporting documentation and 
analyses supplied by Holtec, the manufacturer (e.g., Holtec FSAR, CoC 
amendment application). In the Preliminary Safety Evaluation Report (SER) 
supporting the September 8, 2015, final approval of an amendment to the UMAX 
system's Certificate of Compliance, the NRC determined the following: F3.3 The 
applicant has met the specific requirements of 10 CFR 72.236(g) and (h) as they 
apply to the structural design for spent fuel storage cask approval. The cask system 
structural design acceptably provides for  
 
o Storage of the spent fuel for a certified term of 20 years. F3.4 The applicant has 
met the requirements of 10 CFR 72.236 with regard to the inclusion of the 
following provisions in the structural design: 
 
o Adequate structural protection against environmental conditions and natural 
phenomena. 
 
o Structural design that is compatible with retrievability of spent nuclear fuel 
(SNF). 
 
The staff concludes that the structural properties of the structures, systems and 
components of the CoC No. 1040, Amendment No. 1 are in compliance with 10 
CFR Part 72, and that the applicable design and acceptance criteria have been 
satisfied. The evaluation of the structural properties provides reasonable 
assurance that the HI-STORM UM.AX Canister Storage System Amendment No. 
1 will allow safe storage of SNF for a licensed (certified) life of 20 years. This 
finding is reached on the basis of a review that considered the regulation itself, 
appropriate regulatory guides, applicable codes and standards, and accepted 
engineering practices. (Ex. 1, pp. 37-38) (emphasis added). 

23. On 22 March 2018, during a Community Engagement Panel meeting, SCE’s Tom 

Palmisano admitted that the first four canisters SCE used to load the spent fuel at San Onofre 

were a “new design.” A true and correct copy of the audio transcript for the 22 March 2018 

Community Engagement Panel meeting is attached as Exhibit 13. During the meeting Mr. 
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Palmisano stated: 
 
MR. PALMISANO:  This is the basket we put the fuel in.  ** [T]his is basically a 
rectangular device in a circular canister.  So to complete building that out as a 
circle, we have aluminum shims on the periphery that are installed around the 
edges of the basket.  And the shims are generally hollow. 
 
They serve two purposes.  One, they provide lateral support for the basket.  **  
And when the fuel is in there and the basket heats up several hundred degrees, 
they tighten up against the shell.  And then it's a flow path for helium that comes 
out of the top of the fuel assemblies and goes down through the shims.  
 
** 
[T]he helium would flow up from the bottom, through the fuel assemblies, and 
down through these hollow shims.  
 
What -- has been found -- Holtec and a family of canisters, including ours, use 
two types of these aluminum shims **.   
 
There's a newer design they've used for several years, they've used for many 
of their customers that have these pins in the bottom.   
 
** So what the issue that has been found is, we have found a broken pin in an 
empty canister before it was loaded.   ** 
 
[W]hen we became aware of this, it's important to know that we found this out 
after we loaded the first four canisters, and they have the newer design.  Okay. 
** So once we found this in a canister ** I put the remainder of those 43 canisters 
on hold.  **  
 
And we concluded that the older design was acceptable, not subject to this pin 
breakage. So we've loaded the fifth canister, which is the older design.  And we 
will continue to load the canisters with the older design because it's not 
susceptible to this problem.   
 
We communicate with the NRC, so they're well aware of it, both in the region and 
headquarters.   
 
** So we have four canisters loaded with this design where we have found a 
broken pin.  ** 
 
So we aren't going to use any more of that design. 
 
** So we're satisfied the four canisters are safe to perform all their safety 
functions in storage. (emphasis added) (Ex. 13, pp. 76-77) 

24. When SCE’s Palmisano was asked why SCE did not simply put the four canisters 

back in the fuel pools and reload them, he admitted it would take over two or three years just to 

develop the techniques needed:  

/ / / 

/ / / 
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So nobody has unloaded a commercial canister either a bolted cask or a welded 
cask or canister. ** The biggest technical issue that we've looked at in the 
industry over the many years -- not just related to SONGS is the thermal transient 
to actually reintroduce water into a -- let's say a canister with hot fuel, 200-300 
degrees C. **  
 
[T]his would probably be a two- to three-year project to develop the techniques, 
pile up the techniques. The NRC would want to have explicit approval on this 
because of the radiological hazards.  ** Well, to the workers, yeah.**(Exhibit 13, 
pp. 85-87) (emphasis added) 

25. The NRC found two apparent violations of NRC rules were committed in 

connection with the “Shim Stand-Off” problem. A true and correct copy of the NRC’s Inspection 

Report 07201014/2018-201 is attached as Exhibit 14. The letter states: 
 
Apparent Violation A: 
  
10 CFR 72.146(a), “Design control,” ** measures must be established for the 
selection and review for suitability of application of materials, parts, equipment, 
and processes that are essential to the functions of the structures, systems, and 
components which are important to safety.  
 
Contrary to the above, ** on or after August of 2016, Holtec failed to establish 
adequate design control measures as a part of the selection and review for 
suitability of application for alternative four-inch stainless steel standoff pins.  
 
Apparent Violation B: 
  
10 CFR 72.48(d)(1) requires ** a written evaluation which provides the bases for 
the determination that the change does not require a CoC3  amendment pursuant to 
paragraph (c)(2) of this section.  
 
Contrary to the above, as of July 19, 2018, ** Holtec failed to perform a written 
evaluation to demonstrate that a design change for multi-purpose canister stainless 
steel standoff pins did not require a CoC amendment.  * 

26. On 8 November 2018, NRC hosted a virtual webinar regarding the inspection of 

the San Onofre nuclear site. A true and correct copy of the NRC’s PowerPoint presentation is 

attached as Exhibit 15. The following pictures were shown during the presentation, the text 

alongside each photo was the NRC’s description of the photo, which can be found in Exhibit 4:  

/ / / 
 

                                                 
3 CoC refers to a Certificate of Compliance.  
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This photo shows the flat bed transporter with a transfer cask meeting up with the 
vertical cask transporter. The transfer cask, with the canister inside, is moved from 
the fuel building to the ISFSI pad used in a flatbed transporter (Ex. 4, p. 6): 
 

 
 
A vertical cask transporter is used to move the transfer cask into position on the 
ISFSI pad, the vertical cask transporter is also used to align the transfer cask and 
the canister for downloading operations. (Ex. 4, p. 6) 
 
This photo shows the mating device used to connect the transfer cask to the ISFSI 
vault. The mating device has a hydraulic door to allow access from the transfer cask 
into the ISFSI vault. As you can see, the mating device is open in this photo. (Ex. 4, 
p. 6-7) 
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This photo shows the vertical cask transporter being aligned to the mating device, 
the vertical cask transporter is positioned over the mating device, properly aligned, 
and then they're bolted together. The mating device door is closed during this 
process. (Ex. 4, p. 7) 
 

 
 

This picture shows the spotters, those are the people in the lift baskets, pulling the 
slings through the sheaths on the vertical cask transporter crossbeam. The 
important-to-safety yellow slings are connected to the canister through lift cleats in 
the shield cone and anchored to the vertical cask transporter. (Ex. 4, p. 7) 
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This photo shows the canister ready for downloading, the vertical cask transporter 
lift beam has been raised, and the full load of the spent fuel canister is being 
suspended. The mating device door is open, allowing the canister to be downloaded 
into the ISFSI vault. (Ex. 4, p. 7) 
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This slide shows a schematic of the ISFSI pad, and the location of the low dose 
waiting area. The slide also shows a photo of the view from that location, as you 
can see from the photo to the right, the low dose waiting area has an obstructed 
view of what is happening out on the pad. (Ex. 4, p. 6) 

 

 
 
Before downloading, all oversight staff, other than the spotter and the vertical cask 
transporter operator, are moved to the low dose area. From this position, none of 
the management or supervisory oversight staff from San Onofre or Holtec 
could observe the downloading of the canister. San Onofre oversight staff did not 
have radio headsets, and did not monitor communications between the cask 
loading supervisor, spotter, and vertical cask transporter operator. (Ex. 4, p. 7-8) 
 
This slide shows photos of the vertical cask transporter, and the control panel. The 
vertical cask transporter operator attempted to lower the canister into the vault by 
lowering the vertical cask transporter lift beam. (Ex. 4, p. 8) 
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27. On 24 January 2019, I attended the NRC’s virtual webinar regarding the San 

Onofre nuclear site. The NRC stated SCE failed to timely notify the NRC regarding the 3 August 

2018 misalignment incident.  A true and correct copy of the transcript for the NRC’s virtual 

webinar on 24 January 2019 is attached as Exhibit 16.  

28. On 28 March 2019, I attended Community Engagement Panel meeting regarding 

the San Onofre nuclear site. During the meeting, Tom Palmisano admitted SCE “did not meet the 

formal reporting requirement” and that the NRC was not formally notified until 14 September 

2018, over a month after the 3 August 2018 misalignment incident. A true and correct copy of the 

transcript for the NRC’s virtual webinar on 28 March 2019 is attached as Exhibit 17.  

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the state of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct.  

Executed this 7th day of October 2019, at San Diego, California. 
 
 
      /s/ Michael J. Aguirre   
      Michael J. Aguirre 
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EXHIBIT 7 
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